# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/14/2022 2:43 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. \_\_\_101087-7

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

-----

No. 82468-6-I

#### DIVISION I OF THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS

KATHLEEN E. JOHNSON, and STEVEN W. GENTRY,

Petitioners,

v.

JEREMIAH KERK, et al.,

Respondents.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Linda B. Clapham, WSBA # 16735 Gregory M. Miller, WSBA # 14459

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Attorneys for Petitioners

# **

#### A. Identity of Petitioners and Decision Below.

Petitioners Kathleen Johnson and Steven Gentry ("Johnson" and "Gentry" or "Petitioners"), plaintiffs and appellants below, ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals unpublished decision terminating review filed April 4, 2022 ("Decision"). App. A-1-15. Johnson and Gentry timely moved for reconsideration, App. A- 16-60, the Court of Appeals called for an answer which Respondents filed, App. 61-91, and Petitioners filed a reply, App. A-92 -106. Reconsideration was denied June 14, 2022. App A-107. Petitioners incorporate the arguments in their reconsideration papers.

Petitioners seek review of the Decision which affirmed the trial court's dismissal, on statute of limitations grounds, of their complaint for damages for injuries from exposure to undisclosed mold and toxic substances in the rental house owned by Respondent Sharon O'Grady. The Decision erroneously ruled that the statute of limitations for Petitioners' claims for damages for injuries from exposure to mold and toxic substances was

triggered *before* Johnson and Gentry had evidence from a medical diagnosis of toxicity in their blood from mold and toxic chemicals; and *before* they had evidence that the same toxic chemicals and mold were present in the rental house; and thus, *before* they knew the causes in fact of their injuries. Although stating the settled rule that no claim accrues until the plaintiff knows all elements of their claim, including the cause in fact of their injuries, the Decision in fact ruled erroneously that Johnson and Gentry's causes of action for toxic exposure from mold and chemicals in the rental house were triggered in December, 2017, *before* they knew the cause in fact of their injuries, and thus triggered the three-year statute before service was complete.<sup>1</sup>

This is not a mere appellate court error that needs correcting, but reflects a significant step away from this Court's

\_\_\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The statute of limitations issue arose because of an error by trial counsel in believing that defendants were properly served. On discovery of the error after defendants filed a motion to dismiss, they were served on January 16, 2021, making January 16, 2018, important for the accrual of claim analysis that follows.

settled approach to when a cause of action accrues. It comes from the lack of clear precedent for what constitutes knowledge of the cause in fact for toxic exposures, as alleged here, and the Decision's mis-application of the phrase, "susceptible to proof."

Petitioners contend that to be consistent with this Court's precedents and give meaning to "susceptible to proof" in toxic exposure cases, such knowledge will normally require a medical diagnosis or medical determination the plaintiff's injuries are from specified toxic substances or mold, coupled with some evidence tying exposure from those substances to the defendant or the defendant's property, here the rental house. This approach will clarify murky Washington law on the accrual of causes of action for toxic exposure cases. It also is consistent with decisions in other jurisdictions which have addressed the issue. It will let Washington join those jurisdictions intent on ensuring relief for victims of toxic exposures once they have been able to determine the cause in fact and defendant.

#### **B.** Issues Presented for Review.

Settled black-letter law in Washington holds that a cause of action accrues when a claimant knows or should have known all the essential elements of her cause of action, including cause in fact of the injury. See, e.g., Green v. A.P.C., 136 Wn.2d 87, 960 P.2d 912 (1998) and cases at OB, 15-16; Reply, 6-7. The Decision nominally recognized this principle, observing that the right to apply for relief "requires each element of the action be susceptible to proof." Decision at 9, App. A-9 (emphasis added). Here, the only basis for the Decision to find that Petitioners' poisoning by mold from the rental house was "susceptible to proof" is by ruling that the requisite knowledge of mold as a cause in fact of their injuries was triggered by the "gossamer strand" of a friend's speculative surmise that he "maybe" smelled mold while helping move furniture and personal effects out of the house, amidst the "vile" stench of the rat infestation, which was viewed as the cause, and for which allergens Johnson was getting treatment.

The Decision's reliance on that offhand, gossamer strand of a suggested possibility as the trigger for the statute of limitations as to any harm caused by exposure to toxic chemicals or mold is inconsistent with this Court's decisions and prior published decisions of the Court of Appeals. This case gives the opportunity to clarify Washington law and join with other jurisdictions which have addressed when a toxic exposure case becomes actionable. It presents these issues:

- 1. Where a plaintiff is suffering from a toxic exposure and is not aware of the actual cause until receiving 1) a medical evaluation or diagnosis identifying the toxic substance; and 2) some evidence tying exposure to the substance to the defendant or its property, should the statute of limitations be tolled until the plaintiff receives both the medical diagnosis and the tie to exposure from the defendant or its property? Yes.
  - 2. Where settled law requires knowledge of the cause in fact of the claimed injury before a plaintiff has the right to apply to court for relief and trigger the statute of limitations, is the statute necessarily tolled until the plaintiff has knowledge of the cause in fact of the injury sufficient to support a complaint under Rule 11? Yes. See Green v. A.P.C., 136 Wn.2d 87, 95-96, 960 P.2d 912 (1998); North Coast Air Services Ltd. v. Grumman Corp., 111 Wn.2d 315, 759 P.2d 405 (1988); Winbun v.

- *Moore,* 143 Wn.2d 206, 18 P.3d 356 (2001); *Ruth v. Dight,* 75 Wn.2d 660, 453 P.2d 631 (1969).
- 3. Should this Court expressly adopt the rule that a cause of action for a toxic exposure claim does not accrue, and the statute of limitations is not triggered, until the plaintiff receives both a medical evaluation or diagnosis of the specific toxic cause, and also has some evidence tying exposure to that toxic cause to the defendant or its property? Yes.

#### C. Statement of the Case.

The detailed facts and case context are set out in Petitioners' Opening Brief ("OB") at 4-13, and in their Reply Brief ("Reply") at 1-4. The best recitation of the facts related to Petitioners' medical issues and their search for the cause in fact is in Johnson's January 24, 2018, letter to the Harborview Environmental Occupations Clinic at CP 270-276, App. A-49-55 herein. The details regarding Petitioners' health injuries and search for causation are derived primarily from that letter.

Johnson rented the house in late June, 2017, but was forced to leave after less than four months from serious health problems that manifested shortly after she moved in and she

believed were caused by the manifest rat infestations in the house which O'Grady denied existed, and later proved to be pervasive.

Although O'Grady continued to deny there were any problems from rats (or anything else), she and Respondent Peter Weiner engaged in their own, "DIY" rat remediation efforts while Johnson was out of the house in late October, 2017, which included use of chemicals and heat. Johnson did not return to the house but engaged a lawyer to be released from the lease, who wrote a detailed letter to O'Grady dated November 6, 2017. CP 150-156 and App. 001-007 to the reply brief. The letter focused on the rat infestations since Johnson then believed it was the rats which made the house uninhabitable. O'Grady agreed to release Johnson from the lease.

As recounted in her letter to Harborview, Johnson (and Gentry) had different symptoms from the rat allergen symptoms, which developed during the moving and cleaning of Johnson's clothes and personal property removed from the home, that were different from the allergic symptoms Johnson had previously.

Compare, e.g., CP 273-275, App. 52-54 (describing post-move, December-January symptoms) with CP 270 & 272, App. 49 & 50 (describing initial symptoms attributed to rats).

Johnson's symptoms changed and became worse with Petitioners' continued exposure to the articles and furnishings from the rental and were causing confusion and pain which were mysterious to clinical providers. *Id.* There is no way either Petitioner could have known this in November when Johnson's possessions were moved out because the exposure was from the items that had been in the home. The more they were cleaned, touched, packed or discarded, the more confusion, memory loss, brain fog and physical symptoms grew. Id. These continued to worsen continuing until the night Johnson sent a middle of the night message to her primary care provider, Bob Smithing, ARNP, after an unusual allergic reaction. But none of this focus on toxic exposures other than from the rats was possible to know upon moving out of the home because until the move, there was no other suspect. It was only after the problems did not abate,

and after testing was done that Petitioners could know what the causes in fact actually were.

Gentry, meanwhile, never lived in the rental house with Johnson, nor with her after she vacated, though he visited. Gentry made several trips into the rental house in late November, 2017, to help retrieve Johnson's clothes and personal effects, getting exposed to whatever was there and whatever was infused in Johnson's clothes – any rat dander and feces, the chemical remediation substances which had permeated the house and Johnson's clothes and personal effects, and anything else that was not known. See CP 273 ¶2, 274¶, 275 ¶3, App. A-52-54 hereto. The only articulated concern in fall 2017, as seen from Johnson's lawyer's letter to O'Grady to extinguish the lease, was infestation from rats. Nevertheless, after retrieving Johnson's effects and being immersed in them, Gentry also began to suffer serious health problems similar to Johnson's new ones. See CP 274¶2, 275¶3, App. 53-54 hereto.

By early January, 2018, Johnson found that removing herself from the rental and getting various allergy-focused treatments aimed at the rat exposure was ineffective in stopping or curing her symptoms. Instead, they continued to be triggered on the arrival of her retrieved clothes and personal effects from the rental house. She ultimately disposed of them all, total losses, including family heirlooms.

With no relief, on January 18, 2018, less than three years before service was complete, Johnson was up at 2:30 am writing her primary care provider Bob Smithing, ARNP, about how she now suspected a chemical toxin rather than rats:

Checking in to say I'm alive and will make follow up appt soon. Steve [Gentry] is seeing Susan [medical provider] in am. Similar symptoms to me. He's at my second house right now w a serious mask and packing up hard china and crystal I may be able to have again one day. The furniture and piano were treated by allergy specialty cleaning company to try to kill anything biological. I suspect this is chemical/toxin.

CP 269 (emphasis added). This was the first time Johnson had articulated her belief of the potential that something other than

the rats was the cause of her health problems.

Smithing replied two days later on Saturday, January 20 as follows:

Hi Kat, Sounding like Harborview's Environmental sensitivity clinic may be the next step. This may be morphing into an environmental sensitivity problem. So, sorry it sounds quite horrible overall.

#### CP 269. Johnson replied on later that Saturday:

Good idea! Do I need re[f]erral? I'll make appt. for that. Made two for Steve for you, but not til 1/31. Then two weeks later in case.

CP 269. Smithing replied the next day, Sunday January 21:

Not sure if apt needed. May be a self-referral clinic but you certainly meet criteria. Give a try. I don't have number but you can find it.

CP 269.

Thus, it was not until the weekend of January 20-21, 2018, that Johnson began to pursue causes beyond the suspected rat allergen problems which ultimately led to the blood tests in February, 2018, and the test results received on March 9, 2018, showing both toxic chemical as well as toxic mold in her blood

and in Gentry's blood. March 9, 2018, thus is the earliest possible date that Petitioners **could know** that the likely causes in fact of their injuries were from mold and toxic chemicals.

And it was not until August, 2018, on receipt of tests of the O'Grady rental house identifying the same mold and chemical toxins found in their blood that Petitioners could say they knew the cause in fact of their injuries was from exposures from O'Grady's rental house, and had a sufficient basis to file a complaint compliant with CR 11.

The Decision ultimately ruled that the statute was triggered in November 2017 when it erroneously focused on the passing reference in Johnson's January 24, 2018, letter that Johnson wrote to Harborview that included the refence to her friend's mere surmise, speculating about mold in November 2017. That reference was made, of course, so that Harborview could include that (and any other) outside possibility in any assessment its clinic might do. CP 270-76.

The Decision thus held the causes of action for toxic exposure to chemicals, and to mold, were triggered when Johnson and Gentry had, at most, a surmise that the DIY chemical remediation was a cause of their problems, rather than the rats, which was long before their blood test results gave them their first *evidence* that toxic chemicals were, in fact, a cause. The Decision also necessarily ruled that the informal surmise by Petitioners' friend in November, 2017, who "maybe" smelled mold – in the overwhelming "vile" stench throughout the rental house of the decomposing rats in the walls (CP 271, App. 51) – constituted the basis for a claim because mold was therefore "susceptible to proof" as a cause in fact.

This ruling is based on not even a gossamer strand. It conflicts with settled Washington law which holds that a cause of action does not accrue until the plaintiff *knows* not only the injury or harm, but also "its cause." *Green v. A.P.C.*, 136 Wn.2d at 95-96, quoting *North Coast Air Services Ltd. v. Grumman Corp supra*. With respect, an off-hand speculation based on a

"maybe" by a third party does not equate with knowledge of cause in fact for a toxic exposure. At most it triggers a duty to investigate, which Petitioners diligently did. Only when they received the blood test results, then the house test results, did they have genuine knowledge of the "causes in fact" of their injuries sufficient to file suit and trigger the statute of limitations.

Nevertheless, the Decision concluded that Johnson's and Gentry's injuries from exposure to toxic chemicals, and to mold, were "susceptible to proof in November 2017." Decision at 8, App. A-8. With respect, this conclusion is incorrect and impossible on this record. For one thing, Gentry had not been fully manifesting his injuries in November, as noted *supra*. The Decision means that the statute of limitations for the mold claim was triggered by a friend's *speculative surmise* on *possible* causes of their symptoms based on what he "maybe" smelled along with the stench of the decomposing rats in the walls; or, paraphrasing Judge Learned Hand, by mere "gossamer strands of

speculation and surmise." This hardly qualifies as establishing that all necessary elements of a potential claim were, in fact, known; and that there was evidence of each which was "susceptible to proof." And where the facts as to the plaintiff's knowledge are not certain, the issue is for the jury to decide, as held in *Green*, requiring remand for that issue.

As clearly seen by Johnson's January 24, 2018, letter to Harborview, in *actual fact*, until Johnson and Gentry received the results from their blood tests tying their symptoms to their exposure to chemicals and mold, there was nothing more than suspicion and surmise by them as two laypersons as to the cause of their injuries. In *actual fact*, in getting their March 2019 diagnoses Petitioners were diligently seeking to determine the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Hannon v. Beard, 645 F.3d 45, 48 (1<sup>st</sup> Cir., 2011) ("courts must insist that such claims are bound up in facts, not in the gossamer strands of speculation and surmise."); *Miller v. Maryland Casualty Co.*, 40 F.2d 463, 465 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 1930) (per L. Hand, J.) ("To decide cases by such tenuous unrealities seems to us thoroughly undesirable; parties ought not to be bound by gossamer strands").

cause of their injuries, as the law requires. *In actual fact*, until O'Grady's rental house was tested in August, 2018, there was nothing but surmise based on a "maybe" smell that mold was there. The Decision is in error and review should be granted so that future victims of toxic exposures will not have their cases similarly derailed.

### D. Why This Court Should Grant Review.

1. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2) because the Decision conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Green v. A.P.C.*, *North Coast Air Services Ltd. v. Grumman Corp.*, *Winbun v. Moore*, and *Ruth v. Dight*, among others, and with the Court of Appeals Decisions of *Nichols v. Peterson NW*, *Inc.*, which hold a claim is not triggered until the plaintiff knows the cause in fact, even if that knowledge comes a decade or more after the injury.

The law is settled that a claim is not triggered for statute of limitations issues until the plaintiff knows all its elements, including the cause in fact of the injury; knowledge of the injury alone is not enough. *Green v. A.P.C., North Coast Air Services Ltd. v. Grumman Corp.*, and *Ruth v. Dight* are just a few of this Court's decisions which so hold. *See* Petitioners' discussions

discussion at OB 15-16, Reply at 6-13, Mot. For Recon. at 7-14, App. A-23-30, and Recon. Reply at 1, 6, App. A-92, 97.

North Coast and Ruth v. Dight are two of this Court's decisions whose facts illustrate the point of the black letter law and the error by the Decision below. In *North Coast*, the personal representative's 1984 suit for the injury from a 1974 airplane crash was allowed by this Court because the plaintiff had only learned of the actual cause of the crash ten years later, in 1984 – though there obviously was knowledge that the injury was from the plane crash. But knowledge of the fact of the injury tied to the air crash was not enough – this Court held that knowledge of the cause of the injury, in that case the cause of the crash, was required. So too with the cause of the injuries to Petitioners' health from exposure of them or Johnson's clothes and personal effects to the mold, and to the toxic chemicals. Suspicion that the injuries were "caused by the house" is no different than the North Coast plaintiff's knowledge the injuries occurred from the airplane crash. Cause of the crash was key.

In *Ruth v. Dight*, the plaintiff was injured during a surgery in 1944, but did not know the cause in fact – the surgical sponge left in her abdomen – until 1967, 23 years after the fact. This Court adopted the discovery rule and held that her claim was not time barred because, while she was aware of the injury and continuing discomfort over the years, she did not learn of the cause in fact until over two decades later and therefore did not know all the elements of her potential claim for injuries, and thus was not precluded from her suit.

Both *North Coast* and *Ruth v. Dight* should have been applied by the Decision here to reverse but were not. What the Decision does in effect, and notwithstanding its verbiage, is to conflate knowledge of injury with knowledge of cause in fact. While knowledge of both can be true in many circumstances, such as car accidents, both *North Coast* and *Ruth v. Dight* illustrate that knowledge of injury is not enough even when related to an aircraft crash or surgical malpractice. *Green*,

Winbun, and Nichols v. Peterson NW., Inc., 197 Wn.App. 491, 500-504, 389 P.3d 617 (2016), all are in accord.

Johnson's and Gentry's case illustrates that distinguishing between the knowledge of an injury and the requisite knowledge of the cause in fact is especially important in toxic exposure cases because the actual cause often is less clear. For instance, the parties believed Johnson's medical problems were caused by the rat infestations, if by anything in the house (given that O'Grady has consistently denied that her rental house played any part in Johnson's failed health), but the blood tests and house test indicate that, in fact, the mold and the toxic chemicals from the rental are the cause in fact of the continuing (though changed) health problems for Johnson, while they are the only basis for the injuries to Gentry who never lived in the rental, but handled Johnson's personal effects and furniture extensively after she relocated.

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