FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/12/2022 12:58 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101087-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82468-6-I

DIVISION I OF THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS

KATHLEEN E. JOHNSON, and STEVEN W. GENTRY,

Petitioners,

V.

SHARON GREICHEN O'GRADY, PETER WEINER et al,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KELLEY J. SWEENEY, WSBA #25441 Attorney for Respondents Sharon Greichen O'Grady and Peter Weiner SIMMONS SWEENEY FREIMUND SMITH TARDIF PLLC 1223 Commercial Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-2000

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court will grant discretionary review of a decision

terminating review only under discrete circumstances. RAP 13.4 (b).

Here, Johnson and Gentry argue the Decision is in conflict with decisions by this Court and published decisions by the Court of Appeals and that this case involves an issue of substantial public interest. Petition at 16-19, 20-25. Johnson and Gentry have not supported either assertion. Their Petition should be denied.

A. Division I Correctly Applied Washington Law Regarding Accrual of Causes of Action to the Facts

"A cause of action accrues when a party has the right to apply to a court for relief." 1000 Virginia Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp., 158 Wn.2d 566, 575, 146 P.3d 423 (2006). And, there is no dispute that "[i]n general terms, the right to apply to a court for relief requires each element of the action be susceptible of proof." Haslund v. City of Seattle, 86 Wn.2d 607, 619, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976) (emphasis added).

[T]he limitation period begins to run when the

factual elements of a cause of action exist and the injured party knows or should know they exist, whether or not the party can then conclusively prove the tortious conduct has occurred. A smoking gun is not necessary to commence the limitations period. An injured claimant who reasonably suspects that a specific wrongful act has occurred is on notice that a legal action must be taken. At that point, the potential harm with which the discovery rule is concerned – that remedies may expire before the claimant is aware of the cause of action – has evaporated. The claimant has only to file suit within the limitations period and use the civil discovery rules within that action to determine whether the evidence necessary to prove the cause of action is obtainable. If the discovery rule were construed so as to require knowledge of conclusive proof of a claim before the limitation period begins to run, many claims would never be time barred.

Beard v. King County, 76 Wn. App. 863, 868, 889 P.2d 501 (1995) (emphasis added).

Division I found that Johnson and Gentry were aware in November 2017 that mold and chemicals were potential causes of their injuries. Decision at 8-11, APP 8-11. A letter written by Johnson in January 2018 undeniably disclosed that Johnson and Gentry were aware by November 2017 that they had been exposed to both mold and chemicals in the rental residence. The

Decision outlined the details of the letter at length. APP 3-4. In that letter, Johnson outlined specific use of chemicals and also their friend Keith's reference to mold in the air and earlier reference to a soft roof in August 2017. *Id.* CP at 270-76. On this record, Division I correctly concluded that "the causes of the injuries that were sustained by Johnson and Gentry were 'susceptible of proof' in November 2017. *Haslund*, 86 Wn.2d at 619." Decision at 11, APP 11.

In arguing that Division I misapplied this standard, Johnson and Gentry erroneously conflate susceptibility of proof with *conclusive* proof of the cause of injury.¹ Washington has never adopted a requirement of actual proof of causation to

.

¹ Johnson and Gentry's arguments related to knowing the "cause in fact" of their injuries are misplaced. "Cause in fact refers to the 'but for' consequences of an act—the physical connection between an act and an injury. It is a matter of what has in fact occurred." *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 777–78, 698 P.2d 77, 82–83 (1985) (citations omitted). There can be no dispute that Johnson and Gentry knew the physical connection between their alleged injuries and the O'Grady home, i.e., they were in the home, and/or had been exposed to belongings that had been in the home and got sick immediately thereafter.

trigger the running of the limitations period in a personal injury action. The standard is susceptibility of proof which equates with reasonable suspicion, not actual proof. *See Haslund*, 86 Wn.2d at 619; *Beard*, 76 Wn. App. at 868; *see also Steele v. Organon, Inc.*, 43 Wn. App. 230, 234, 716 P.2d 920 (1986) (once the plaintiff is aware of some injury beyond nominal damage, the statute of limitation begins to run *even if* he does not know the full extent of his injuries).

In fact, the pattern in *Steele* is quite similar to this case—the plaintiff took the problematic substance upon advice of a doctor. It first caused numbness and tingling, which made her aware of some injury from the drug. Much later, it also caused a heart attack and stroke. The cause of action was held to have accrued upon the first occurrence of harm. *See Steele*, 43 Wn. App. at 235. The later occurrence of more harm did not reset the statute or trigger the discovery rule. *Id*.

By the end of November 2017, Johnson and Gentry had seen and smelled chemicals in the rental home, and a professional roofer had informed them that the roof was soft and that he smelled mold in the air. At that point, Johnson and Gentry reasonably suspected that a wrongful act had occurred, i.e., that their injuries were due to exposure to mold and chemicals within the O'Grady rental home, triggering the statute of limitations. *See Beard*, 76 Wn. App. at 868 (An injured claimant who reasonably suspects that a specific wrongful act has occurred is on notice that a legal action must be taken). The Petition should be denied.

B. The Decision Is Consistent with Supreme Court and Appellate Court Precedent Analyzing Accrual of Actions and Utilizing the Discovery Rule Only in Cases Where Plaintiffs Do Not Know They Have Been Injured.

"The general rule in ordinary personal injury actions is that a cause of action accrues *at the time the act or omission occurs*." *Matter of Estates of Hibbard*, 118 Wn.2d 737, 744, 826 P.2d 690 (1992) (emphasis added). The discovery rule, which is an exception to the general rule recognized in *Hibbard*, applies in certain torts when the injured parties **do not know they have**

been injured and literal application of the statute of limitations could result in grave injustice. *Id.* at 744-45; *1000 Virginia Ltd.*, 158 at 566. Neither factor applies here. Even where the discovery rule applies, reasonable suspicion, not factual certainty, triggers the running of the limitations period under Washington's discovery rule.

There is no dispute that Johnson and Gentry knew they had allegedly been exposed to chemicals and mold and that they experienced negative effects on their health by the time they had completely vacated the premises in November 2017. Their own writings prove as much. Because Johnson and Gentry were aware they had been injured allegedly due to some exposure within the O'Grady rental home, the discovery rule does not apply. Instead, the statute of limitations began to run "at once" from the alleged act or omission of O'Grady and Weiner in allegedly exposing Johnson and Gentry to mold and chemicals.

With respect to the second factor relevant to application of the discovery rule, no grave injustice would result here from application of the general rule that claims accrue when the act or omission occurs. Johnson and Gentry did, in fact, <u>file</u> their lawsuit timely. It was not for lack of knowing of their right to bring a claim that this case was untimely. Instead, their failure was in not following up the filing of suit with personal service upon any individual defendant.

Contrary to Johnson and Gentry's claims in their Petition, the Decision in this matter was consistent with this Court and published Appellate decisions.

1. Green v. A.P.C.

In *Green v. A.P.C.*, 136 Wn.2d 87, 96-97, 960 P.2d 912 (1998), this Court detailed Washington law—still applicable today—regarding the accrual of a cause of action and application of the discovery rule when a wrongful act leads to two or more injuries. In *Green*, the two injuries both stemmed from administration of DES, a medication, to plaintiff's mother while she was pregnant with plaintiff. The DES medication could cause reproductive problems in female offspring, and Green

experienced two physical changes--to her cervix and to her uterus—which both made for a more difficult pregnancy. Green learned of the fact of her own *in utero* exposure to DES when she was 14 years old. She learned of her own diagnosed cervical problems at age 19, and more than three years prior to filing suit. In 1992, she learned of her T-shaped uterus. She filed suit in 1994. Only the discovery of the uterine problem was within the three years prior to filing suit.

The pharmaceutical defendants moved for dismissal on statute of limitations grounds. They argued that plaintiff knew of the "injury"—her *in utero* DES exposure--as early as age 14, and certainly as late as age 19 when she learned that she did, in fact, have the cervical problem. Plaintiffs countered with an argument that the two types of injuries from DES exposure were separate and distinct, and that only the claims based on the cervical problem were time-barred. Because she did not discover the T-shaped uterus problem until 1992, they argued, any complications from that discrete injury were not time-barred.

The trial court dismissed the entire case on statute of limitations grounds. The court of appeals disagreed. It ruled that separate statutory limitations periods were applicable for the "separate and distinct" injuries to plaintiff from her mother's DES ingestion. *Green*, 86 Wn. App. at 63. This Court reversed, stating the following:

- Under Washington's discovery rule, a cause of action does not accrue until a party knew or should have known the essential elements of the cause of action-duty, breach, causation, and damages. *Id.* at 95.
- A cause of action may accrue for purposes of the statute of limitations if a party should have discovered salient facts regarding a claim. *Id.* at 96.
- "[W]hen a plaintiff is placed on notice by some appreciable harm occasioned by another's wrongful conduct, the plaintiff must make further diligent inquiry to ascertain the scope of the actual harm." *Id*.
- "The statute of limitations is not postponed by the fact

that further, more serious harm may flow from the wrongful conduct." *Id*.

• "Where an injury, although slight, is sustained in consequence of the wrongful act of another, and the law affords a remedy therefore, the statute of limitations attaches at once. It is not material that all the damages resulting from the act shall have been sustained at that time, and the running of the statute is not postponed by the fact that the actual or substantial damages do not occur until a later date." *Id* at 96. (Citations omitted).

The Court's analysis of the loss of consortium claim is also instructive as to when a claim accrues. Rejecting a majority rule that a loss of consortium claim does not lie when the injury to the spouse that caused the loss of consortium occurred prior to marriage, the Court instead reasoned: "...loss of consortium damages should be available for a premarital injury if the injured spouse either does not know or cannot know of the *injury*." *Id*. at 102. (Emphasis supplied). The Court then clarified "[t]he

spouse's loss of consortium claim accrues when the spouse first suffers *injury* from loss of consortium..." *Id.* at fn. 9. (Emphasis supplied).

The *Green* decision does not postpone accrual of a cause of action until the claimant possesses conclusive proof of the cause of injury or full knowledge of the extent of injury; it is instead the fact of *some injury* – which again results in the statute of limitations attaching at once.

2. Winbun v. Moore

Johnson and Gentry's argument that "cause in fact" was necessary before their claims accrued misstates Washington law. The discovery rule requires reasonable suspicion, not actual proof, for a claim to accrue. *Winbun v. Moore*, 143 Wn.2d 206, 18 P.3d 576 (2001), discussed in the Motion for Reconsideration (APP 30-31) and cited in the Petition at 16, does not dictate a contrary conclusion. *Winbun* is a medical malpractice case in which plaintiff had brought timely action against several of the physicians who had treated her. The Court allowed her to add an

additional physician to the suit more than three years after the malpractice had occurred. In so doing, the Court applied the discovery rule and concluded that plaintiff had been diligent in requesting the records that would permit her to identify the physicians involved in her care; however, the providers failed to produce certain records that disclosed potentially actionable negligence by one of the treating physicians. Prior to receiving those records, plaintiff knew that the physician had been on her treatment team, but she had no reason to suspect that he had been negligent. The Court concluded that "knowledge of suspected professional negligence as to one health care provider does not of necessity trigger the medical malpractice discovery rule of RCW 4.16.350 as to all other health care providers who also treated the plaintiff." Id. at. 223. Johnson and Gentry had "knowledge of suspected" exposure to chemicals and mold in the O'Grady home and due to alleged action or inaction of O'Grady and/or Weiner in November 2017 triggering the limitations period. The Decision is entirely congruent with Winbun.

3. Nichols v. Peterson NW, Inc.

Similarly, Nichols v. Peterson NW, Inc., 197 Wn. App. 491, 500–01, 389 P.3d 617, 622–23 (2016), is consistent with Division I's analysis. *Nichols* simply reaffirms that "[u]nder the discovery rule, a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff discovers, or in the reasonable exercise of diligence should discover, the salient facts underlying the cause of action's elements. Id. (Emphasis added). In Nichols, the defendant alleged negligent actions that led to water intrusion occurred in 2006 (plaintiffs filed in 2012) and that plaintiffs should have discovered water intrusion earlier because one plaintiff admitted that she observed the roof deck being exposed to rain after defendant failed to tarp the roof. However, plaintiff also stated that she did not witness any water intrusion at the time and believed that a tarp placed over the roof thereafter solved any concern about water intrusion. Plaintiffs provided evidence that it was not until 2011, when one of them went into the attic and observed mold, that they noticed any water intrusion. Their claim

was not time barred. Id.

This is not a situation where Johnson or Gentry allege that any problem had been remedied, or that symptoms had abated for that matter. Their injuries and damages were in full swing, they knew it and believed it was due to exposure within the O'Grady residence when they completely vacated the premises in November 2017. Johnson and Gentry possessed the salient facts underlying their claims by that time. *Nichols* does not support their argument that they must have known *cause in fact*.

4. North Coast Air Services, Ltd. v. Grumman Corp.

Nor does the Decision conflict with *North Coast Air Services, Ltd. v. Grumman Corp.*, 111 Wn.2d 315, 759 P.2d 405 (1988), a case concerning the statute of limitations for a products liability action and again, consideration of a discovery rule. The case involved a plane crash that was attributed at the time to pilot error. Years later, the father of the deceased pilot learned that there had been subsequent crashes of the same type of aircraft that had been caused by a defect in the aircraft's elevator control

assembly. The father filed a products liability action against the plane's manufacturer within three years of learning of the possibility that the crash had been caused by a defect in the aircraft.

The products liability statute of limitations provides that "no claim under this chapter may be brought more than three years from the time the claimant discovered or in the exercise of due diligence should have discovered the harm and its cause." RCW 7.72.060(3). This Court concluded that a products liability action accrues when a claimant discovers, or in the exercise of due diligence should have discovered, a factual causal relationship of the product to the harm. In reaching that conclusion, the Court was informed by the legislative declaration of purpose for the products liability statute of limitations, to wit, "to treat the consuming public, the product seller, the product manufacturer, and the product liability insurer in a balanced fashion" without unduly impairing "the right of the consumer to recover for injuries sustained as a result of an unsafe product."

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